

RESEARCH REPORT

The Road to Making Patient-Centered Care Real

Policy Vehicles and Potholes

Michael L. Millenson HEALTH QUALITY ADVISORS LLC Robert A. Berenson urban institute

October 2015





ABOUT THE URBAN INSTITUTE

The nonprofit Urban Institute is dedicated to elevating the debate on social and economic policy. For nearly five decades, Urban scholars have conducted research and offered evidence-based solutions that improve lives and strengthen communities across a rapidly urbanizing world. Their objective research helps expand opportunities for all, reduce hardship among the most vulnerable, and strengthen the effectiveness of the public sector.

Copyright © October 2015. Urban Institute. Permission is granted for reproduction of this file, with attribution to the Urban Institute. Cover image from AP Images.

Contents

Acknowledgments	iv
The Road to Making Patient-Centered Care Real: Policy Vehicles and Potholes	1
Introduction	1
What Patient-Centered Care Means	2
Advancing Patient-Centeredness Legislatively	3
The Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act (HITECH)	3
The Affordable Care Act (ACA)	4
The Medicare Access and CHIP Reauthorization Act (MACRA)	5
Other Patient-Centered Policy Initiatives	6
Measuring Patient-Centered Care	7
The Spread of CAHPS	
Beyond "Experience"	8
Obstacles	10
Converging and Diverging Goals	10
Conclusion	11
Notes	13
About the Authors	16
Statement of Independence	17

Acknowledgments

This report was funded in part by the Gordon and Betty Moore Foundation. We are grateful to our funders, who make it possible for Urban to advance its mission. It is important to note that funders do not determine our research findings or the insights and recommendations of our experts.

The authors are grateful for comments and suggestions on an earlier version by Bing Chang, Dominick Frosch and Judy Miller Jones.

The Road to Making Patient-Centered Care Real: Policy Vehicles and Potholes

Introduction

In a landmark 2001 report on improving American health care, the Institute of Medicine (IOM) called patient-centeredness one of six aims of a 21st-century health care system.¹ That designation in the *Crossing the Quality Chasm* report was oft-quoted, but its impact for many years remained mostly symbolic.

More recently, the focus on patient-centeredness has shifted from rhetorical to real-world implementation. In part that's due to growing acceptance of measures such as patient experience and patient-reported outcomes as valuable in themselves, whatever their impact on cost and quality.² However, it's also because patient-centered measures are playing an increasingly important role in the health system's historic transition "from volume to value;" that is, from long-established payment methods based on activity to alternative payment models that feature some amount of provider financial risk and quality measurement. There is a broad consensus that, as a 2013 IOM workshop concluded, "Prepared, engaged patients are a fundamental precursor to high-quality care, lower costs and better health."³ (In mid-2015, the IOM was renamed the National Academy of Medicine.)

Much of the change is being driven by delivery system reforms emanating from Washington, including the "meaningful use" provisions of the 2009 Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health (HITECH) Act; numerous sections of the 2010 Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (ACA); and key portions of the Medicare Access and CHIP Reauthorization Act (MACRA), signed into law in April 2015.

In 2014, a diverse group of knowledgeable stakeholders laid out a robust "roadmap" leading to broader patient and family engagement, the centerpiece of patient-centered care. It set forth a menu of actions to be taken by payers, providers, policymakers and patients.⁴ That goal-setting, while a major contribution, left largely unanswered the first question asked by map users: "Where are we now?"

This paper answers that question in several ways. First, after examining the origins of the term "patient-centered care" and its current meaning, the paper reviews laws that have been important vehicles for moving patient-centeredness from ideal to real. The focus here is the clinical component of the provider-patient interaction. Initiatives to stimulate "consumerism" through insurance design and pricing innovations fall outside this paper's purview, as do efforts to incorporate patient input into research or into regulatory review. Even within those limits, this appears to one of the first policy surveys of its kind.

Next, a successful journey requires reliable guidance. This paper's second contribution is to review some of the measurement tools and research involved in enabling patient-centeredness to become operational as well as aspirational.

Finally, even when everyone agrees on a trip's destination and route, obstacles can obstruct the way. The third part of this paper examines several. In particular, three separate concepts of patient-centeredness—the ethical, economic and clinical—can reinforce each other, but they can also conflict.

In sum, the journey making patient-centered care goals requires accurate knowledge of the starting point and the destination, as well as confidence in the vehicle and guidance system to get there. This paper aims to inform a more detailed discussion of federal policies affecting all those important elements.

What Patient-Centered Care Means

In 1987 the Picker/Commonwealth Program on Patient-Centered Care invented that term and eventually proposed six dimensions. These included

- respect for patients' values, preferences and expressed needs,
- coordination and integration of care,
- Information, communication and education,
- physical comfort,
- emotional support, and
- involvement of family and friends.⁵

The IOM's *Chasm* report adopted those categories and summarized the concept this way: "Patientcenteredness encompasses qualities of compassion, empathy and responsiveness to the needs, values and expressed preferences of the individual patient."

Unfortunately, these categories are broad enough to include everything from convenient appointments and clean hospital rooms to electronically sharing the doctor's notes and customizing therapy based on patient genotype. Moreover, the plain English meaning of "patient-centered" seems to include traditional professional beneficence on the patient's behalf, as well. Unsurprisingly, then, an examination of more than 60 articles on patient-centered care from the health policy, medical and nursing literature found "few common definitions."⁶

"Patient-centered" is also being employed by some as political shorthand for warding off "government micromanagement of personal medical decision making," as a conservative think tank put it.⁷ Similarly, Speaker of the House of Representatives John Boehner vowed after the Supreme Court's *King v. Burwell* decision to continue efforts to replace "Obamacare" with "patient-centered solutions."⁸

Finally, some observers object to the term's linguistic assumptions and prefer "person-centered" or another label. While those arguments have merit, "patient-centered care" remains the term with the widest policy and professional acceptance. In the context of this paper, it will be used to refer directly to care delivery processes and measures, including patient experience of care, patient and family engagement, patient activation, shared decision-making and patient-reported outcomes.

Advancing Patient-Centeredness Legislatively

Mandates to put specific patient-centered practices into place are already fueling change. Three of the most prominent laws giving rise to new mandates are discussed below.

The Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act (HITECH)

As of December 2014, hospitals and physicians had received \$28.1 billion in incentive payments for adopting electronic health records meeting Stage 1 and 2 "meaningful use" (MU) regulatory standards.⁹ Those standards have consistently included measures meant to advance electronic engagement of patients throughout the health care system. By the end of 2013, almost 3 in 10 individuals were offered

access to an online medical record, according to the Office of the National Coordinator for Health Information Technology (ONC).¹⁰

Stage 3 MU regulations include patient engagement as a formal objective and set goals for the percentages of patients who must actually view their data and receive a clinically relevant electronic message after hospital discharge. For the first time there's a provision related to patients contributing their own data, with providers required to incorporate so called "patient-generated health data" into the EHR clinical information from "non-clinical" settings such as physical therapy or a wearable device.¹¹ Providers could report on these criteria in 2017 and must meet them in 2018 or suffer a payment penalty.

The draft rule prompted substantial pushback from some in the provider community and in Congress, particularly in regard to the timetable for specific goals; e.g., 25 percent of patients viewing, downloading or transmitting their health information by 2018. The final rule, issued Oct. 6, included an additional 60-day comment period, signaling possible further changes to mollify critics. Whatever the specific modifications, however, incenting providers to fully use the EHR as a vehicle to engage patients in their care remains an important policy focus.

The Affordable Care Act (ACA)

The term "patient-centered" appears some 40 times in the ACA, and there are additional references within specific initiatives to "patient satisfaction," "patient experience of care," "patient and family engagement" and "shared decision-making."¹² Perhaps the law's most prominent effort to reshape care delivery, the accountable care organization (ACO), has resulted in the most detailed patient-centered care parameters. As of mid-2015, those regulatory requirements affected 404 Medicare Shared Savings Program (MSSP) ACOs with 7.3 million assigned beneficiaries. (The 19 Pioneer ACOs serving 600,000 beneficiaries are governed by an agreement with the Center for Medicare and Medicaid Innovation that has similar but less detailed requirements.)

Organizations applying to become an MSSP ACO must explain how they will promote evidencebased medicine and patient engagement, report on quality and cost measures and coordinate care.¹³ The Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS) evaluates all ACOs on 33 quality measures across four domains. Seven measures, and 25 percent of quality-related compensation, relate to the patient and caregiver experience. The breadth, depth and specificity of the regulatory guidance set this rule apart as it presses for patient-centered care at three levels, summarized here:¹⁴

- Governance-level requirements call for patient-centered care to "be promoted by the ACO's governing body and integrated into practice by leadership and management." That governing body must include one fee-for-service Medicare beneficiary receiving care from the ACO.
- Clinical-level requirements prescribe clinical policies, such as communicating about evidencebased medicine with patients and tracking care systematically through population health data management or clinical reminder systems.
- Individual level patient-clinician interactions call for promoting "active participation of patients and their families in the process of making medical decisions," including support and tools allowing patients to assess treatment options in the context of their own "values and convictions." A requirement to develop individualized care plans also mentions factors such as race, gender, sexual orientation, disability and income status.

The extent to which individual ACOs are actually traveling where these detailed instructions have pointed them is unclear. At present, there's no evidence CMS has assessed whether ACO implementation has followed proposed action plans to promote patient engagement.¹⁵ The overall burden of ACO measures also remains controversial.

The Medicare Access and CHIP Reauthorization Act (MACRA)

MACRA eliminated the sustainable growth rate (SGR) formula, which was supposed to constrain spending under Medicare's physician fee schedule, and replaced it with pay-for-performance and incentives to adopt "alternative payment methods." Beginning in 2019, the Physician Quality Reporting System, MU and the Physician Value-Based Purchasing Program will be replaced by the Merit-Based Incentive Payment System (MIPS). A publicly reported MIPS score will determine provider bonuses or penalties based on four domains: quality measures, efficiency measures, meaningful use of electronic health records and clinical practice improvement activities.

The quality domain must incorporate at least these areas: clinical care; safety; care coordination; patient and caregiver experience; and population health and prevention. The law assigns priority to outcomes measures, including patient-reported outcome and functional status measures; patient

experience measures; care coordination measures; and measures of appropriate use of services, including measures of overuse.¹⁶

Providers who have already traveled a substantial way along the "pay for value" road won't be burdened by being given a new set of directions. Those already receiving a significant portion of their income via alternative payment mechanisms that use similar cost and quality metrics, such as an ACO or advanced patient-centered medical home (PCMH), can opt out of MIPS. However, they may be subject to comparable performance metrics applied at the organizational level.

Other Patient-Centered Policy Initiatives

Title III of the ACA requires the Secretary of Health and Human Services (HHS) to develop a National Strategy to Improve Healthcare Quality and report annually on it to Congress. First published in 2011, what is now called the *National Strategy for Quality Improvement in Health Care* has three overarching aims (better care, healthy people/healthy communities and affordable care) and six priorities.¹⁷ The second of those, "ensuring that each person and family is engaged as partners in their care," contains three parts:

- Improve patient, family and caregiver experience of care related to quality, safety and access across settings.
- In partnership with patients, families and caregivers—and using a shared decision-making process—develop culturally sensitive and understandable care plans.
- Enable patients and their families and caregivers to navigate, coordinate and manage their care appropriately and effectively.¹⁸

The strategy document is separate from the *National Healthcare Quality & Disparities Report* from the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ). This researcher version of a GPS-like locator includes national information on shared decision-making and on the experience of care by adults and children in the doctor's office and hospital.¹⁹

In addition, measures linked to the patient experience of care or similar metrics are part of HHS's "Better, Healthier, Smarter" initiative that aims to tie 50 percent of Medicare payments to value-based models by the end of 2018.²⁰ The department has launched lesser-known efforts ranging from a framework for health risk assessments for Medicare beneficiaries to the establishment of PCMHs by community health centers and the Indian Health Service. CMS has also provided more than \$1.25 billion in Health Care Innovation Awards to about 150 organizations to improve care and lower costs for those in Medicare, Medicaid and the Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP). Some of those grants target patient-centered care interventions, such as shared decision-making.²¹

Patient-centered care components are also routinely cited in regulatory actions. For instance, a 2015 rule authorizing Medicare payment for annual lung cancer screening using low-dose computed tomography for some current and former smokers specifically covers a "counseling and shared decision-making visit."

HHS continues to push for patient-centered measures across the continuum of care, including in long-term care, rehabilitation and other venues. CMS has its own quality strategy that aligns with the national one, and a Person and Family Engagement affinity group created to implement it is developing a national framework to enable patients and families to become engaged and informed partners in improving safety and reducing inappropriate care.²²

The Department of Veterans Affairs also backs a number of care delivery initiatives related to patient-centeredness, including support of the PCMH, within its Office of Patient-Centered Care and Cultural Transformation.

Though this paper focuses on care delivery, the most prominent effort to promote the patient perspective in research on drugs and devices and in care delivery merits brief mention. As of mid-2015 the Patient-Centered Outcomes Research Institute (PCORI) had awarded \$869 million to 400 projects ranging from understanding patient priorities for research into Crohn's disease to developing a video empowering patients facing major surgery.²³

Measuring Patient-Centered Care

The Spread of CAHPS

While "patient-centered care" itself is imprecisely defined, discrete components can be measured and tracked to provide guidance as to whether milestones are being achieved. The best-known and most-

tested instrument is the family of patient experience of care surveys known as the Consumer Assessment of Healthcare Providers and Systems (CAHPS). The CAHPS tool, now overseen by AHRQ, was first deployed in the 1990s to assess health plans.

Patients are the best and often only source of reliable information on the clarity of clinician communication, respect and similar aspects of care. In addition to CAHPS for hospitals (HCAHPS), there's a survey for clinicians and medical groups (CG-CAHPS) and, as a subset, one for the PCMH. There are CAHPS for ACOs, health plans, home health, nursing homes, behavioral health, surgical care, dental care, the Medicare drug benefit and children with chronic conditions. A CAHPS to assess care delivered by the Choctaw tribe evolved into the American Indian Survey standardized questionnaire. CAHPS results are often publically available on the web, a further spur to action.

As the financial impact of CAHPS has grown, both in direct payment (as with ACOs, hospital valuebased purchasing and other programs) and through the indirect impact of transparency of scores, so have concerns about possible negative effects. For example, CAHPS may be better at assessing provider responsiveness to the vast majority of patients who are healthy or effectively managing a chronic condition, while missing a subpar response to a smaller group with acute problems that needs urgent attention and support.

Separately, an ethics journal broached another common concern this way: "The pursuit of high patient-satisfaction scores may actually lead health professionals and institutions to practice bad medicine by honoring patient requests for unnecessary and even harmful treatments."²⁴ However, despite anecdotal reports of this occurring, a literature review found no evidence CAHPS scores lead to care that is "inappropriate, ineffective and/or inefficient."²⁵

Other studies support CAHPS as a reliable proxy for various quality objectives. One literature review found that higher patient experience scores are associated with higher levels of adherence to recommended prevention and treatment processes, lowered utilization and improved patient safety and are linked to better clinical outcomes.²⁶ And a study of U.S. hospitals found that those with high patient satisfaction provided more efficient surgical care and were associated with higher surgical quality.²⁷

Beyond "Experience"

The impact of patient communication and patient engagement, concepts also promoted in legislative and regulatory language, has been studied using methodology that goes far beyond reliance on CAHPS.

A literature review found "compelling evidence" that better communication can lead to improved clinical outcomes in the management of diabetes, hypertension, and cancer.²⁸ In the patient engagement realm, the extensively tested Patient Activation Measure (PAM) assesses an individual's skills, knowledge and confidence in managing their health and engaging in shared decision-making.²⁹

Improving PAM scores at one large health system helped improve 12 of 13 outcomes linked to prevention, unhealthy behaviors, clinical indicators, and utilization.³⁰ Patients with lower activation scores also had higher costs.³¹

Another extensively tested tool is the Health Confidence Measure, a single-question inquiry ("How confident are you that you can control and manage most of your health problems") that can be used by primary care physicians in their practices. The measure has been shown to be directly associated with physician performance and patient outcomes.³²

Patient-reported outcomes measures (PROs or PROMs) began to be collected and reported in a validated format in the 1980s.³³ Examples include health-related quality of life, symptoms (such as pain), functioning, and adherence to therapy. Interest is growing in integrating PROs into additional contexts, including adverse event reporting;³⁴ a recent issue brief by the Consumer-Purchaser Alliance urged their wider adoption.³⁵ Since 2004, the National Institutes of Health has funded the Patient-Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System (PROMIS) for research into patients' physical, mental and social well-being.³⁶ These measures may help in comparing different treatments and providers, as well as changes in performance over time.³⁷

Separately, a torrent of patient-generated health data is beginning to arrive from outside the traditional care system via clothing and other wearables that can monitor heart rate, pulse and a growing list of other indicators. A Microsoft fitness band that provides constant heart rate monitoring, for example, was said to be part of a "platform" employing algorithms to deliver "actionable information" and contextual analysis.³⁸ Whether or not policymakers confront this issue through MU regulations, traditional providers will inevitably be challenged to integrate this data into their EHRs while simultaneously protecting privacy and confidentiality.

Obstacles

For all the progress in measurement and the agreement on goals, much more work is needed on the actual impact of implementation. It is here that potholes invisible in the satellite view of the patient-centered care journey start to rattle the axles of policy vehicles.

To begin with, "patient-centered" will vary by the individual. Patients are not homogenous. For example, a collaborative relationship with the physician may have a greater impact on women's adherence to medication than men's.³⁹ The goal of collaboration trumpeted at policy conferences may not resonate with underserved minorities harboring underlying deep mistrust of "the system."⁴⁰ (And, distressingly, one recent study found that doctors talked less often with patients of "other" races and ethnicities about the reasons for treatment recommendations.⁴¹) "Autonomy" can mean different things to the young and to the old and to different ethnic groups.⁴²

In addition, the guidance system for the implementation journey remains in a nascent state. A recent IOM report emphasized the need for better collaborative tools and more training for physicians.⁴³ And an analysis of 234 performance measures being considered in more than 20 federal programs found that "a relatively small number of measures under consideration addressed person-and family-experience/population health."⁴⁴ Condition-specific measures remain largely in a research stage.

Measures other than traditional surveys are also drawing attention, including an analysis of hospital Yelp ratings that found a statistically significant correlation between high Yelp ratings and high HCAHPS scores. There was also a statistically significant correlation between high marks in Yelp and in HCAHPS with lower mortality for heart attack and pneumonia.⁴⁵ The burst of measurement activity has unsurprisingly spurred concerns about measure proliferation and usefulness.

Converging and Diverging Goals

Meanwhile, while the umbrella term "patient-centered care" attracts near-universal acclaim, it encompasses three separate concepts that can overlap, be synergistic or even conflict with each other.⁴⁶

The *ethical* aspect of patient autonomy relies heavily on notions of individual rights and free choice founded on more than a century of legal decisions establishing every person's right to be fully informed about a proposed treatment.⁴⁷ The *economic* aspect of patient-centeredness, on the other hand, puts

the patient in the position of a customer. As early as 1974, an IOM report endorsed publishing outcomes measures "so consumers can be informed" in their choices.⁴⁸ Meanwhile, the *clinical partnership* domain focuses on communication and collaboration as a means of achieving the goal of better outcomes.⁴⁹

The three aspects can reinforce each other: high CAHPS scores that signal respect for autonomy and a clinical partnership are also useful for marketing purposes. Each aspect of patient-centeredness also has independent value; for example, whether or not shared decision-making saves money⁵⁰ or improves outcomes,⁵¹ helping patients who want to become clinical partners do so is the morally right course.

Finally, conflicts lurk. Patients may choose a provider in part based on price, but the successful shopper expects a clinical partnership rather than the *caveat emptor* relationship of seller-buyer once inside the exam room. On the other side of the stethoscope, physicians worry what happens to their ethical obligations if a "patient" becomes the "customer."⁵²

In this period of flux, past assumptions about relationships may no longer hold. Consider the individual who seeks care from her family physician one week, a nurse practitioner at a drugstore clinic the next, a previously unknown doctor via a telehealth connection the week after that and advice from the doctors and patients on CrowdMed, based on readings from her glucometer and smartphone apps, to finish off the month.

While this behavior could be characterized as the "prepared, engaged patient" of the IOM's policy ideal, it is far from certain that when writ large in all of American health care it will turn out to be "a fundamental precursor to high-quality care, lower costs and better health."⁵³ As patient-centeredness goes from ideal to implementation, the assumption that all possible aspects work in harmony will surely be tested. Despite a consensus roadmap on goals, paths may diverge, and it will be up to policymakers to decide which is the road not taken.

Conclusion

The implementation of multiple patient-centered care interventions is beginning to turn an aim for the 21st-century US health care system into a measurable aspect of care. Details of what this means will become clearer as the aspirational language in HITECH, the ACA, MACRA and future legislation is articulated as rules and regulations further guiding practice.

The goals and guidance of a roadmap are a major contribution to the patient-centeredness journey. Others have laid out the rationale for a "policy push."⁵⁴ For those accelerated efforts to be successful however, policymakers and those in the front lines of care also need a clearer picture of where current policies have already taken us and where they are heading. Multiple agencies and departments are involved in patient-centered initiatives; only a few have been touched upon here.

These efforts in HHS and elsewhere in the federal government should be comprehensively catalogued and subjected to the same strategic scrutiny as other care improvement activities. That hasn't yet happened, yet is particularly important at a time of rapid innovation in patient-generated health data.

The pace of change also underlines the need for better measures and more information on effective implementation. Specific measures must not only be technically valid, but trusted by everyone, a challenge as the economic stakes rise with changes in public and private payment rules.

Though some may propound "patient-centered" for partisan purposes, that usage nonetheless reflects an instinctive understanding of the value Americans attach to personal autonomy and to the clinical relationship. The new practices of patient-centered care are an unsettling product of powerful cultural, economic and technical forces; that's the essence of a paradigm shift. This uncertainty makes it all the more important to emphasize that patient-centered care is a disruptive innovation that will ultimately enhance rather than detract from the doctor-patient bond.

Doctors are fond of quoting Dr. William Mayo's pronouncement, "The best interest of the patient is the only interest to be considered." Patient activists prefer, "Nothing about me without me." Policymakers should encourage the evolution of a health care system where all sides see these two visions of patient-centered care as an "either/or" choice but a possibility for "both."

Notes

- 1. Richardson WC, Berwick D, Bisgard J, Bristow L, Buck C, and Cassel C. Crossing the Quality Chasm: A New Health System for the 21st Century." Washington, DC: National Academy Press, 2001.
- 2. Berenson RA, Pronovost PJ, and Krumholz HM. "Achieving the Potential of Health Care Performance Measures: Timely Analysis of Immediate Health Policy Issues." Washington, DC: Urban Institute, 2013. http://www.urban.org/research/publication/achieving-potential-health-care-performance-measures.
- 3. Institute of Medicine. "Partnering with Patients to Drive Shared Decisions, Better Value and Care Improvement." Workshop Proceedings, Roundtable on Value & Science-Driven Health Care, February 2013 Meeting Summary. Washington, DC: National Academies Press, 2013. http://bit.ly/1S0FbC5.
- 4. Carman K, Dardess P, Maurer M, Workman T, Ganachari D, and Pathak-Sen E. *A Roadmap for Patient and Family Engagement in Healthcare Practice and Research*. Washington, DC: American Institutes for Research. http://patientfamilyengagement.org/.
- 5. Gerteis M, Edgman-Levitan S, Daley J, and Delbanco TL. Through the Patient's Eyes: Understanding and Promoting Patient-Centered Care. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass, 1993.
- Kitson A, Marshall A, Bassett K, and Zeitz K. "What Are the Core Elements of Patient-Centered Care? A Narrative Review and Synthesis of the Literature from Health Policy, Medicine and Nursing." *Journal of Advanced Nursing* 69 (1): 4–15, 2013.
- 7. Nix K. "Comparative Effectiveness Research under Obamacare: A Slippery Slope to Health Care Rationing." Washington, DC: Heritage Foundation, 2012. http://herit.ag/1UExcXk.
- 8. "Speaker Boehner on King v. Burwell Ruling," press release, Speaker of the House John Boehner, June 25, 2015, http://1.usa.gov/1KCfi8a.
- 9. Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services. "Medicare & Medicaid EHR Incentive Programs." Presentation to HIT Policy Committee, February 10, 2015. http://www.healthit.gov/facas/sites/faca/files/Joint_EHR_Incentive_Program_FINAL_2015-02-10_0.pdf.
- 10. Patel V, Barker W, and Siminerio E. "Individuals' Access and Use of Their Online Medical Record Nationwide." Washington, DC: Office of the National Coordinator for Health Information Technology, 2014. http://www.healthit.gov/sites/default/files/consumeraccessdatabrief_9_10_14.pdf.
- 11. Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services. "Medicare and Medicaid Programs; Electronic Health Record Incentive Program—Stage 3 and Modifications to Meaningful Use in 2015 through 2015." *Federal Register*. Accessed at: http://1.usa.gov/1LuBMSV
- 12. Millenson ML and Macri J. "Will the Affordable Care Act Move Patient-Centeredness to Center Stage?" Washington, DC: Urban Institute, 2012. http://www.urban.org/publications/412524.html.
- 13. "Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act," Pub. L. No. 111-148, 124 Stat. 119 (2010). http://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/PLAW-111publ148/pdf/PLAW-111publ148.pdf.
- 14. Millenson ML. *Building Patient-Centeredness in the Real World: The Engaged Patient and the Accountable Care Organization.* Washington, DC: Health Quality Advisors and the National Partnership for Women & Families. 2012. http://bit.ly/1JMCtvV.
- 15. Berenson RA and Rice T. "Beyond Measurement and Reward: Methods of Motivating Quality Improvement and Accountability." *Health Services Research*, forthcoming.
- 16. "Medicare Access and CHIP Reauthorization Act of 2015," Pub. L. No. 114-10, 129 Stat. 87 (2015). https://www.congress.gov/bill/114th-congress/house-bill/2/text.
- 17. Although these goals are colloquially referred to as "the Triple Aim," that exact term is trademarked by the Institute for Healthcare Improvement. This results in use of similar phrases, such as "the three-fold aim."

- 18. US Department of Health and Human Services. *National Strategy for Quality Improvement in Health Care:* 2014 Annual Progress Report to Congress. Washington, DC: US Department of Health and Human Services, 2014. http://1.usa.gov/1R9G3UC.
- 19. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. *National Healthcare Quality Report, 2013*. Rockville, MD: Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality, 2014. http://www.ahrq.gov/research/findings/nhqrdr/nhqr13/chap6.html. The 2014 version combined two reports on improving quality and reducing disparities into one, renamed the National Healthcare Quality & Disparities Report.
- 20. US Department of Health and Human Services, "Better, Smarter, Healthier," press release, January 26, 2015, http://1.usa.gov/1GZjCJK.
- 21. "Health Care Innovation Awards: Round One Project Profiles," Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services, accessed October 9, 2015, http://innovation.cms.gov/Files/x/HCIA-Project-Profiles.pdf.
- 22. Iwugo Jeneen, personal communication with Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services, July 27, 2015.
- 23. "Research and Results," Patient-Centered Outcomes Research Institute, accessed October 9, 2015, http://www.pcori.org/research-results.
- 24. Junewicz A and Younger SJ. "Patient Satisfaction Surveys on a Scale of 0 to 10: Improving Health Care, or Leading It Astray?" *Hastings Center Report* 45 (3): 43–51, 2015.
- 25. Price RA, Elliott MN, Cleary PD, Zaslavsky AM and Hays RD. "Should Health Care Providers Be Accountable for Patients' Care Experiences?" *Journal of General Internal Medicine* 30 (2): 253–6, 2015.
- Price RA, Elliott MN, Zaslavsky AM, Hays RD, Lehrman WG, Rybowski L, Edgman-Levitan S, and Cleary PD. "Examining the Role of Patient Experience Surveys in Measuring Health Care Quality." *Medical Care Research and Review* 71 (5): 522–54, 2014.
- 27. Tsai TC, Orav EJ, and Jha AK. "Patient Satisfaction and Quality of Surgical Care in U.S. Hospitals." *Annals of Surgery* 261 (1): 2–8, 2015. http://bit.ly/1mSsTaS.
- 28. Levinson W, Lesser CS, and Epstein RM. "Developing Physician Communication Skills for Patient-Centered Care." *Health Affairs* 29 (7):1310–18, 2010.
- Hibbard JH, Stockard J, Mahoney ER, and Tusler M. "Development of the Patient Activation Measure (PAM): Conceptualizing and Measuring Activation in Patients and Consumers." *Health Services Research* 39 (4p1): 1005–26, 2004.
- Greene J and Hibbard JH. "Why Does Patient Activation Matter? An Examination of the Relationships Between Patient Activation and Health-Related Outcomes." *Journal of General Internal Medicine* 27 (5): 520– 526, 2012.
- 31. Hibbard JH, Greene J and Overton V. "Patients with Lower Activation Associated with Higher Costs: Delivery Systems Shown Know Their Patients' Scores." *Health Affairs* 23 (2): 216–222, 2013.
- 32. Wasson J and Coleman EA. "Health Confidence: A Simple, Essential Measure for Patient Engagement and Better Practice." *Family Practice Management* 21 (5): 8-12, 2014.
- 33. Ware Jr. JE and Sherbourne CD. "The MOS 36-Item Short-Form Survey (SF-36). I. Conceptual Framework and Item Selection." *Medical Care* 30 (6): 473–83, 1992.
- 34. Basch E. "New Frontiers in Patient-Reported Outcomes: Adverse Event Reporting, Comparative Effectiveness, and Quality Assessment." *Annual Review of Medicine* 65: 307–17, 2014.
- 35. Huff JE and Hopkins D. "Action Brief: Patient-Reported Outcomes." Princeton, NJ: Robert Wood Johnson Foundation, Consumer-Purchaser Alliance, 2015.
- 36. "PROMIS Overview," National Institutes of Health, accessed October 8, 2015, http://www.nihpromis.org/about/overview.
- 37. Smith PC and Street AD. "On the Uses of Routine Patient-Reported Health Outcome Data." *Health Economics* 22 (2): 119–31, 2013.

- 38. Wood M. "Microsoft Band Is a Welcome Surprise in the Wearable Market." *New York Times*, November 2, 2014, http://nyti.ms/1yuf1gF.
- 39. Arbuthnott A and Sharpe D. "The Effect of Physician-Patient Collaboration on Patient Adherence in Non-Psychiatric Medicine." *Patient Education and Counseling* 77 (1): 60–67, 2009.
- 40. Clark KP and McMillan-Persaud B. "Racial Discordance in Patient-Physician Relationships." *American Journal of Medicine* 127 (3): e25.
- Lin M-Y and Kressin NR. "Race/Ethnicity and Americans' Experiences with Treatment Decision Making." Patient Education and Counseling, 2015.
- 42. Blackhall LJ, Murphy ST, Frank G, Michel V, and Azen S. "Ethnicity and Attitudes Toward Patient Autonomy." *Journal of the American Medical Association* 274 (10): 820–825, 1995.
- 43. Alston C. *Shared Decision-Making Strategies for Best care: Patient Decision Aids.* Washington, DC: Institute of Medicine, 2014.
- 44. Measure Applications Partnership. *MAP 2014 Recommendations on Measures for More Than 20 Federal Programs*. Washington, DC: National Quality Forum, 2014 http://bit.ly/1TZbTBg
- 45. Bardach NS, Asteria-Peñaloza R, Boscardin WJ, and Dudley RA. "The Relationship between Commercial Website Ratings and Traditional Hospital Performance Measures in the USA." *BMJ Quality and Safety* 22 (3): 194–202, 2013.
- 46. Millenson ML. "Paradigm, Not Pill: The New Role of Patient-Centered Care." Washington, DC: National Institute for Health Care Management Foundation, 2014.
- 47. Katz J. The Silent World of Doctor and Patient. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press, 2002.
- 48. Institute of Medicine. Advancing the Quality of Health Care. Washington, DC: National Academy Press, 1974.
- 49. Fuertes JN, Mislowack A, Bennett J, Paul L, Gilbert TC, Fontan G, and Boylan LS. "The Physician-Patient Working Alliance." *Patient Education and Counseling* 66 (1): 29–36, 2007.
- 50. Katz SJ, Hawley S. "The Value of Sharing Treatment Decision Making with Patients. Expecting Too Much?" *Journal of the American Medical Association* 310 (15): 1559–60, 2013.
- 51. Shay LA and Lafata JE. "Where Is the Evidence? A Systematic Review of Shared Decision Making and Patient Outcomes." *Medical Decision Making*, 2014.
- Zeuner R, Frosch DL, Kuzemchak MD, and Politi MC. "Physicians' Perceptions of Shared Decision-Making Behaviours: A Qualitative Study Demonstrating the Continued Chasm between Aspirations and Clinical Practice." *Health Expectations*, 2014.
- 53. Institute of Medicine. "Partnering with Patients to Drive Shared Decisions, Better Value and Care Improvement." Workshop Proceedings, Roundtable on Value & Science-Driven Health Care, February 2013 Meeting Summary. Washington, DC: National Academies Press, 2013. http://bit.ly/1S0FbC5.
- 54. Epstein RM, Fiscella K, Lesser CS, and Stange KC. "Why the Nation Needs a Policy Push on Patient-Centered Health Care." *Health Affairs* 29 (8): 1489–95, 2010.

About the Authors

Michael L. Millenson is president of Health Quality Advisors LLC, Highland Park, IL, an adjunct associate professor of medicine at Northwestern University's Feinberg School of Medicine, and a senior policy consultant to the Urban Institute. He is the author of the critically acclaimed book, *Demanding Medical Excellence: Doctors and Accountability in the Information Age*. His work on patient-centered care includes several policy papers as well as articles in the *British Medical Journal*, the *Journal of General Internal Medicine* and the *Journal of Participatory Medicine*. He is also co-principal investigator on a grant examining leading edge, patient-centered practices by ACOs. He serves on the board of the American Medical Group Foundation and on an advisory board to the *American Journal of Medical Quality*.

Robert A. Berenson joined Urban in 2003 and is now an Institute Fellow. In this position he conducts policy research and analysis on health care delivery issues, particularly related to Medicare payment policy, pricing power in commercial insurance markets, performance measurement, and primary care practice reform. In 2012, Berenson completed a term on the Medicare Payment Advisory Commission, the last two years as vice chair. From 1998 to 2000, he was in charge of Medicare payment policy and private health plan contracting in the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services. Previously, he served as an assistant director of the Carter White House Domestic Policy Staff. Berenson is a board-certified internist who practiced for 20 years. He helped organize and manage a preferred provider organization serving the Washington, DC area. He is coauthor of *The Managed Care Blues & How to Cure Them* with Walter Zelman, and *Medicare Payment Policy and the Shaping of U.S. Health Care*, with Rick Mayes. He is a graduate of the Mount Sinai School of Medicine and a fellow of the American College of Physicians.

STATEMENT OF INDEPENDENCE

The Urban Institute strives to meet the highest standards of integrity and quality in its research and analyses and in the evidence-based policy recommendations offered by its researchers and experts. We believe that operating consistent with the values of independence, rigor, and transparency is essential to maintaining those standards. As an organization, the Urban Institute does not take positions on issues, but it does empower and support its experts in sharing their own evidence-based views and policy recommendations that have been shaped by scholarship. Funders do not determine our research findings or the insights and recommendations of our experts. Urban scholars and experts are expected to be objective and follow the evidence wherever it may lead.

2100 M Street NW Washington, DC 20037

• E L E V A T E • T H E

www.urban.org

U

NST

- 22

1.

1.0

. *

1

. .

12

1

1.0

- 12

1

.

۰.

.

.

12

20

.

10

.

.

.

.

· DEBATE